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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Dixon Advisory USA, Inc. proposes new residential and commercial development at 135 and 137 Bedford Avenue
(Block 2305, Lots 5 and 6), in the Williamsburg neighborhood of Brooklyn, Kings County, New York (Figures 1
and 2 and Appendix A). This new development requires a zoning map amendment from the New York City
Department of City Planning to establish a C1-4 commercial overlay to a depth of 100 feet over the existing R6A
and R6B zoning districts on the eastern side of Bedford Avenue between North 9" Street and North 10" Street. The
properties affected by this proposed rezoning are Block 2305, Lots 1, 2, 3,4, 5,6, 7, 8, 9, and parts of Lots 10 and
34. These lots correspond to addresses of 127-145 Bedford Avenue, 167 North 9" Street and 168 North 10™ Street.
The proposed development on Lots 5 and 6 is a new five-story with cellar mixed-use residential and commercial
building. The proposed development would contain approximately 2,822 sq. feet of commercial floor area on the
ground floor and approximately 3,597 sq. ft. of residential floor area (3-5 dwelling units) on the upper floors. The
ground floor of the portion of the building in the R6A district would have a height of 55 ft. and the portion of the
building in the R6B district would have a height of 35 ft. Proposed project plans are included in Appendix A.

As part of the rezoning application, project materials were submitted to the New York City Landmarks Preservation
Commission (LPC), which responded that:

LPC review of archaeological sensitivity models and historic maps indicates that there is potential
for the recovery of remains from 19th Century occupation on the project site. Accordingly, the
Commission recommends that an archaeological documentary study be performed for this site to
clarify these initial findings and provide the threshold for the next level of review, if such review
is necessary (see CEQR Technical Manual 2014). (Santucci 10/25/2018).

The LPC identified Block 2305, Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, and 10 as locations that require an archaecological documentary
study. These lots correspond to addresses 133, 135, 137, 139, 141 and 143 Bedford Avenue, and 168 North 10"
Street (Figure 2).

At the request of the project sponsors, Historical Perspectives, Inc. (HPI) presents the following Phase TA
Archaeological Documentary Study of the 135-137 Bedford Avenue rezoning project. The study complies with the
guidelines of the LPC (LPC 2018). For the purposes of this study, three designations are used throughout this report
and on accompanying figures.

e The Rezoning Area includes all of the lots and partial lots that will be affected by the proposed rezoning,
located along the Bedford Avenue frontage of the block and to a depth of 100 feet behind this frontage.
Portions of Lots 10 and 34 are within this 100-foot designation. The Rezoning Area lots are depicted in a
green dashed outline on figures.

e The Archaeological Area of Potential Effect (APE) includes the lots identified by LPC as requiring
further study, and is a subset of the Rezoning Area. The Archaeological APE lots are depicted in a blue
outline on figures.

e The Applicant owned lots are Lots 5 and 6, corresponding to 135 and 137 Bedford Avenue. These are the
two lots that are proposed for new development. The Applicant owned lots are depicted in a red outline on
figures. An architectural survey of 137 Bedford Avenue is included as Appendix B.

The purpose of this Phase IA Archaeological Documentary Study was to determine whether nineteenth-century
archaeological resources occupations could remain within the Archaeological APE.

The Archaeological APE was part of a large farm tract prior to the 1840s, and there is no indication that it was
developed with any structures before that time. However, by the late 1840s the present block and lots had been
created. Lots 5, 6 and 7 were developed with the present residences between 1848 and 1850. Lots 2, 3, and 4 were
developed with the current residences in the early 1860s. The residences on Lots 8 and 9 were constructed in 1874.
The lot on the corner of Bedford Avenue and North 10" Street, historically known as Lot 10 and now known as Lot
9, was undeveloped during the nineteenth century. It contained gas pumps in the twentieth century, and now
contains a building erected in 2000.



During the second half of the nineteenth century, the historic lots in the Archaeological APE housed multiple
families at any given time. The houses had at least two families, and some had more. Some of the houses were
occupied by their owners with additional renters, and other houses appeared to be solely rental properties. In
general, however, the residents of the project site lots were headed by men with working class occupations,

including builders, carpenters, masons, stonecutters, smiths, painters, carmen, rope makers, segar makers, sash
makers, shoe makers, ship masters, policemen, laborers, and those employed in the nearby industries. Most men
who could be traced in census records appeared to be married with children. The residents appeared to be a mixture
of those born in the United States and immigrants, many from Ireland, England, and what is now Germany. Some
residents lived on the lots for multiple years, while others stayed for shorter periods. Appendix D provides details of
occupation data for the six historic lots.

In general, both piped city water and municipal sewers were installed under local streets in this part of Brooklyn in
the early 1860s, and appear to have been completed by about 1863, when assessments for sewers under Fourth
Street and North Ninth Street were finished. Newer houses would have been hooked up directly to these resources,
while houses that were already in existence prior to these new advances often were hooked up several years later
(examples of this delayed hookup phenomenon have been documented on other nearby properties, see HPI1 2013 and
2014). The houses on Lot 5, 6, and 7 were constructed between 1848 and 1850, well before municipal water and
sewer services were available. The houses on Lots 2, 3, and 4 were constructed in the early 1860s and probably
were hooked up to the new municipal sewer under Fourth Street when they were constructed, or very shortly
thereafter. City directories indicate the houses were occupied at least by 1863 (Lots 3 and 4) and 1865 (Lot 2).

All of the lots had open yard areas at one time, although some yard areas were built over with structures in
subsequent years. Archaeological resources such as domestic and commercial artifacts and refuse associated with the
project site residents and businesses may have been deposited in shaft features—particularly wells, cisterns and privies—
that were likely located in the yards of the houses that were constructed prior to the availability of municipal water and
sewers. Comparative data has shown that these types of archaeological resources frequently are found in urban contexts,
particularly in Brooklyn.

Privies were located furthest from the residences, often along the rear lot lines, while wells and cisterns frequently (but
not always) were located closer to the rear walls of street-fronting buildings or outbuildings. Privies and cisterns would
be excavated up to 10-15 feet below grade, while wells would need to be excavated as deep as the water table, which
varied according to location. From the late-1840s through the 1860s, before the introduction of piped city water,
residents would have relied on rear yard shaft features, such as wells and cisterns. Privies and cesspools would have
been used at least until the introduction of municipal sewers. As noted above, although municipal water and sewers were
available under Bedford Avenue by the early 1860s, owners of buildings pre-dating service availability often did not
hook up their buildings, many of which were rental properties, to water and sewer lines until years, and sometimes
decades after the services were available, suggesting a potentially longer use-life for yard shaft features.

Identifying and examining buried features associated with the nineteenth century occupation of the project site may
reflect the daily activities of the residents and provide insight into cultural behavior of the working class community
at the time just before Brooklyn’s rapid growth. If undisturbed deposits of cultural material do still exist, they may
have the potential to provide meaningful information regarding the lives of the people who lived there. When
recovered from their original context and in association with a specific historical occupation, historical deposits can
provide a wealth of information about consumption patterns, consumer choice, gender relations, ethnicity, economic
status, and other important issues.

Identifying historic period sensitivity on the historic lots that comprise the Archaeological APE is contingent on
several factors. These are the likelihood that shaft features would have been constructed on the lots, given the
absence of municipal water and sewers, and the possibility that these potential features could still be present given
later disturbance. The table, below, summarizes the archaeological sensitivity potential for each of the historic lots
within the Archaeological APE. Figure 12 illustrates those locations deemed archaeologically sensitive.

il



Archaeological Sensitivity by Historic Lot

Historic | Building Disturbance Status Archaeological Sensitivity
Lot Date
2 Ca. 1863 Minimal, yard area has not been built over | Low, reduced probability of shaft features
due to building age
3 Ca. 1863 Minimal, yard area has not been built over | Low, reduced probability of shaft features
due to building age
4 Ca. 1863 Minimal, yard area has not been built over | Low, reduced probability of shaft features
due to building age
5 Ca. 1848- Minimal, yard area has not been built over | High, sensitive for shaft features
1850
6 Ca. 1848- Building addition and excavation has High, sensitive for shaft features at rear of
1850 disturbed yard area nearest to house; rear lot; remainder of yard has been disturbed
portion may not be significantly disturbed
7 Ca. 1848- Building addition disturbed yard area Low, area closest to early core of house has
1850 nearest to house; former rear portion has been disturbed from building addition and
been disturbed from construction of rear of lot has been disturbed from
garage on Lot 10 construction of garage on Lot 10
8 1874 Building covers most of the existing yard; | Very Low, reduced probability of shaft
former rear portion has been disturbed features due to building age and disturbance
from construction of garage on Lot 10
9 1874 Building covers most of the existing yard; | Very Low, reduced probability of shaft
former rear portion has been disturbed features due to building age and disturbance
from construction of garage on Lot 10
10 2000 Former site of buried gas tanks and None heavily disturbed

present building over majority of lot

Based on the conclusions outlined above, HPI recommends that a program of archaeological field testing be
undertaken on portions of Lots 5 and 6 within the Archaeological APE, as shown on Figure 12. This testing, often
referred to as Phase IB, would determine the presence or absence of nineteenth-century shaft features and possible
yard deposits associated with the former residents and buildings on the property. Archaeological field testing would
involve using a backhoe to remove the existing ground surface (some of which is now covered with paving) from
test trenches within the sensitive areas. Mechanical excavations, under the direction of an archaeologist, would
continue to assist with removing modern fill or debris underlying the removed pavement in order to expose potential
archaeological resources. HPI recommends no additional archaeological investigations for the remaining lots within

the Archaeological APE.

All archaeological testing should be conducted according to OSHA regulations and applicable archacological

standards, which includes prior LPC approval of a field testing work plan (LPC 2018; CEQR 2014). Professional
archaeologists, with an understanding of and experience in urban archaeological excavation techniques, would be
required to be part of the archaeological team.
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Right to left, Lots 5 and 6, 137 and 135 Bedford Avenue. View looking southwest.

Lot 5, 137 Bedford Avenue. Back yard of house showing patio and entrance to cellar through
hatched door. Red brick wall is the side elevation of house on Lot 6. View looking north.

Lot 5, 137 Bedford Avenue. Back yard of house showing patio and interior of yard. View looking
northwest.

Lot 5, 137 Bedford Avenue. Back yard, composite image from east corner, panorama looking
southwest to northwest. Red oval marks location of depression.

Lot 6, 135 Bedford Avenue. Back yard. Brick walls are sides of garage on Lot 10. View looking
southeast.

Lot 6, 135 Bedford Avenue. Brick walls are sides of garage on Lot 10. View looking east.
Right to left, Lots 2, 3, and 4 (143, 141, and 139 Bedford Avenue). View looking southeast.

Example of rear yard behind Lots 2, 3, and 4. This is Lot 4, 139 Bedford Avenue. View looking
southeast.

Lot 7, 133 Bedford Avenue (tan house). View looking east.

Lot 7, 133 Bedford Avenue (tan house). Rear yard is located between houses on left and Lot 10
brick garage building on right, behind wooden fence. View looking northeast.

Lot 7, 133 Bedford Avenue year yard detail. Brick building on right is the garage on Lot 10.
View looking northeast.

Lot 8, 131 and 129 Bedford Avenue (red building on right) and Lot 9, 127 Bedford Avenue
(brown building on left). View looking southeast.

Lot 10 garage building. Yellow and black striped wall marks edge of Lot 8 rear yard. View
looking southwest.
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l. INTRODUCTION

Dixon Advisory USA, Inc. proposes new residential and commercial development at 135 and 137 Bedford Avenue
(Block 2305, Lots 5 and 6), in the Williamsburg neighborhood of Brooklyn, Kings County, New York (Figures 1
and 2 and Appendix A). This new development requires a zoning map amendment from the New York City
Department of City Planning to establish a C1-4 commercial overlay to a depth of 100 feet over the existing R6A
and R6B zoning districts on the eastern side of Bedford Avenue between North 9" Street and North 10" Street. The
properties affected by this proposed rezoning are Block 2305, Lots 1, 2, 3,4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, and parts of Lots 10 and
34. These lots correspond to addresses of 127-145 Bedford Avenue, 167 North 9" Street and 168 North 10™ Street.
The proposed development on Lots 5 and 6 is a new five-story with cellar mixed-use residential and commercial
building. The proposed development would contain approximately 2,822 sq. feet of commercial floor area on the
ground floor and approximately 3,597 sq. ft. of residential floor area (3-5 dwelling units) on the upper floors. The
ground floor of the portion of the building in the R6A district would have a height of 55 ft. and the portion of the
building in the R6B district would have a height of 35 ft. Proposed project plans are included in Appendix A.

As part of the rezoning application, project materials were submitted to the New York City Landmarks Preservation
Commission (LPC), which responded that:

LPC review of archaeological sensitivity models and historic maps indicates that there is potential
for the recovery of remains from 19th Century occupation on the project site. Accordingly, the
Commission recommends that an archaeological documentary study be performed for this site to
clarify these initial findings and provide the threshold for the next level of review, if such review
is necessary (see CEQR Technical Manual 2014). (Santucci 10/25/2018).

The LPC identified Block 2305, Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, and 10 as locations that require an archaeological documentary
study. These lots correspond to addresses 133, 135, 137, 139, 141 and 143 Bedford Avenue, and 168 North 10"
Street (Figure 2).

At the request of the project sponsors, Historical Perspectives, Inc. (HPI) presents the following Phase TA
Archaeological Documentary Study of the 135-137 Bedford Avenue rezoning project. The study complies with the
guidelines of the LPC (LPC 2018). For the purposes of this study, three designations are used throughout this report
and on accompanying figures.

e The Rezoning Area includes all of the lots and partial lots that will be affected by the proposed rezoning,
located along the Bedford Avenue frontage of the block and to a depth of 100 feet behind this frontage.
Portions of Lots 10 and 34 are within this 100-foot designation. The Rezoning Area lots are depicted in a
green dashed outline on figures.

e The Archaeological Area of Potential Effect (APE) includes the lots identified by LPC as requiring
further study, and is a subset of the Rezoning Area. The Archaeological APE lots are depicted in a blue
outline on figures.

e The Applicant owned lots are Lots 5 and 6, corresponding to 135 and 137 Bedford Avenue. These are the
two lots that are proposed for new development. The Applicant owned lots are depicted in a red outline on
figures. An architectural survey of 137 Bedford Avenue is included as Appendix B.

1. METHODOLOGY
The present study entailed review of various resources.

e Primary and secondary sources concerning the general precontact period and history of Bushwick and
Williamsburg (historically spelled Williamsburgh) and specific events associated with the project site and
vicinity were reviewed at the Brooklyn Historical Society, the library of HPI, and using online resources.

e Historic maps and photographs, and images were searched using materials from the New York Public
Library, the Brooklyn Historical Society, the New York City Municipal Archives, the library of HPI, and
using various online websites. These materials provided a chronology of land usage for the project site.



e Land records were reviewed at the Brooklyn Historical Society and on familysearch.com, focusing on the
nineteenth century.

e Tax assessment records were reviewed at the New York City Municipal Archives. These records include
data from 1868 through the end of the nineteenth century for Brooklyn.

e Selected city directories and federal and state census records were reviewed.

e Department of Building index records and certificates of occupancy were reviewed online.

e Information about previously recorded archaeological sites and surveys in the area was compiled from data
available at the New York State Office of Parks, Recreation and Historic Preservation (NYSOPRHP), the
LPC, and the library of HPI.

e The project sponsors provided a Phase I Environmental Site Assessment for the 135-137 Bedford Avenue
lots of the overall rezoning project site (ALC Environmental 2018).

In addition, a site visit to discern areas of prior disturbance and current conditions was conducted on March 25, 2019
(Photographs 1-13; Figure 2).

I11. CURRENT CONDITIONS AND ENVIRONMENTAL SETTING
A. Current Conditions

The Archaeological APE consists of seven modern tax lots/addresses within the larger Rezoning Area (Lots 2, 3,4,
5,6, 7, and 10), two of which, Lots 5 and 6, are owned by the project applicants and slated for new development.
Historically, portions of ten smaller lots were part of the Archaeological APE (current Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 and
historic Lots 8, 9, 10, and 11). The modern lots are discussed individually, below, beginning with the two applicant
owned lots. Current photographs are referenced, and additional recent photographs of Lots 5 and 6 from the Phase I
Environmental Site Assessment (ALC Environmental 2018, Appendix 15.2) are provided in Appendix C.

Lot 5/137 Bedford Avenue

This lot is 20.25 feet wide and 80 feet deep. It contains a row house with two stories, a “basement” level which is
partially below the street grade at the front of the house but at the same level as the yard at the back of the house,
and a sub-basement or cellar level below the basement level (Photograph 1). The main part of the house is entered
via steps up from the street. The basement level has both a front door to the street under the main house entrance,
and rear door directly to the back yard. The cellar level has a hatch-style door with stairs leading up to the back
yard. There is attic storage space above the second floor and under the roof eaves. The back yard is relatively level.
It is covered with a small patio with paving tiles near the house, and soil/mulch over the rest of the yard
(Photographs 2-4). The yard is bounded on all three sides by fencing or parts of the adjacent buildings. There is a
small depression near the rear fence with visible rodent holes, suggesting a subterranean feature.

Lot 6/135 Bedford Avenue

This lot is 20.42 feet wide and 80 feet deep. It also contains a row house with two stories, a basement level, and a
cellar level below the basement (Photograph 1). The core part of this house has a similar configuration to 137
Bedford Avenue. However, the house at 135 Bedford Avenue has a larger footprint due to an addition that extends
approximately 20 feet further into the yard. There are solar panels and two air conditioner units on the roof. The
basement and cellar levels continue into the addition portion of the house, and are connected by interior stairs. The
back yard is paved with concrete closest to the house, where the original landform has been cut down in elevation to
create an entrance to the basement level. There are steps leading up to a brick and concrete patio further from the
house, at the original yard level (Photographs 5-6 and Appendix C). The yard is bounded on all three sides by
fencing or parts of the adjacent buildings.

Lot 2/143 Bedford Avenue

This lot is 18.25 feet wide and 80 feet deep. It contains a two-story brick row house with a basement (Photograph
7). There is an open yard behind the house. The yard is bounded on all three sides by fencing or parts of the
adjacent buildings.



Lot 3/141 Bedford Avenue

This lot is 18.25 feet wide and 80 feet deep. It contains a two-story row house with a basement (Photograph 7).
There is an open yard behind the house. The yard is bounded on all three sides by fencing or parts of the adjacent
building.

Lot 4/139 Bedford Avenue

This lot is 18.25 feet wide and 80 feet deep. It contains a two-story row house with a basement (Photograph 7).
There is an open yard behind the house, which was photographed from the yard of adjacent 137 Bedford Avenue
(Photograph 8). The yard is bounded on all three sides by fencing or parts of the adjacent building.

Lot 7/133 Bedford Avenue

This lot is 19.53 feet wide and 57.6 feet deep. The lot was originally 80 feet deep, but the rear portion was truncated
when current Lot 10 was created and the automobile repair garage on Lot 10 was constructed. Lot 7 contains a two-
story row house with a basement (Photograph 9). Like adjacent Lot 6, the core of this house has been extended with
a two-story addition with a basement off the rear of the original house. The small remaining open yard area between
the back of the house and Lot 10 is 19.53 feet wide and approximately 17 feet deep (Photographs 10-11).

Lot 8

This lot is 40 feet wide and 57.6 feet deep. It was formerly known as Lots 8 and 9, with each lot measuring 20 feet
wide. Today the two historic lots have been combined into one lot. The two historic lots were originally 80 feet
deep, but the rear portions were truncated when current Lot 10 was created and the automobile repair garage on Lot
10 was constructed. Lot 8 contains two conjoined four-story apartment buildings with basements (Photograph 12).
The small remaining open yard area between the back of the buildings and Lot 10 is 40 feet wide and approximately
17 feet deep.

Lot9

This lot is 20 feet wide and 57.6 feet deep. It was formerly known as historic Lot 10. The lot was originally 80 feet
deep, but the rear portion was truncated when current Lot 10 was created and the automobile repair garage on it was
constructed. This lot contains a four-story building with a basement, constructed in 2000 (Photograph 12). The rear
yard area is paved and unfenced. Previously, this lot was either vacant or used for underground gas tanks and
pumps associated with the garage on Lot 10.

Lot 10/168 North 10" Street

This lot is irregularly shaped, measuring 42.5 feet wide along North 10" Street, 79.56 feet deep on the northwest
side, 100 feet deep on the southeast side, and with an angled interior configuration connecting the two sides. The
northwest side of the lot contains former portions of historic Lots 7, 8, 9, and 10, specifically the rear 22.42 foot
deep sections of these lots. The remaining portion was formerly known as Lot 11. The current Lot 10 contains a
one-story automobile repair garage with a footprint over the majority of the lot, including the former rear sections of
Lots 7, 8, and 9 (Photograph 13). There is a 20-foot deep concrete apron in front of the building along North 10™
Street that serves as a parking area and driveway for the garage. The walls of the garage form the lot boundaries of
the back of Lots 6, 7 and 8 and one side of Lot 6. There is a painted brick wall with a door separating the rear areas
of Lots 8 and 9 and abutting the garage, allowing entrance to those yards from the street.

B. Topography and Hydrology

The Rezoning Area and vicinity are within a relatively level area with only modest change in elevation. One of the
earliest topographical maps that indicated elevations showed the project site to be between 10-20 feet above sea
level (Bien and Vermeule 1891). The earliest available Sanborn map, from 1884 (see Figure 9) indicates that the
intersection of Bedford Avenue and North 9" Street was 32 feet in elevation and the intersection of Bedford Avenue



and North 10™ Street was 18 feet in elevation. Subsequent Sanborn maps indicate the two intersections as 19/25 feet
(Sanborn 1905, Figure 10) and 19.17/25.33 feet (Sanborn 1942, Figure 11). It is likely that the 1884 elevation of 32
feet was numerically inverted and the true elevation likely was 23 feet, given that subsequent maps depicted the
elevation as 25 feet. Once the roadways were in place, which was the case by the mid-nineteenth century, it is
probable that elevations did not change markedly. The change of reported elevations of 1-2 feet is over time is
likely a minor discrepancy in mapping and/or measurements. A recent topographical survey has been completed for
proposed development of Lot 5 (137 Bedford Avenue) within the Rezoning Area (Appendix B). According to these
surveys, elevations along the Bedford Avenue frontage of the lots ranges from approximately 20-23 feet (NAVD 88
datum) and elevations in the rear yard range from approximately 18.5-19.5 feet (NAVD 88 datum).

Prior to development in the area, Block 2305 partially overlapped marshlands surrounding Bushwick Creek (Colton
1849, Figure 4). The Rezoning Area lots were on firm ground, although the southeastern portion of the block was
within the marshlands. The channel of Bushwick Creek was approximately 500 feet southeast of the Rezoning
Area. Bushwick Creek formerly flowed northwest and entered the East River via a wide inlet north of North 13™
Street.

C. Geology

Long Island is the top of a Coastal Plain ridge formation that is covered with glacial drift, in reality an elevated sea
bottom demonstrating low topographic relief and extensive marshy tracts. In the last million years, as glaciers
advanced and receded three times, the surficial geology of the island, including the project site, was profoundly
altered. “The glacier was an effective agent of erosion, altering the landscape wherever it passed. Tons of soil and
stone were carried forward, carving and planing the land surface. Massive accumulations of glacial debris were
deposited at the margins of the ice sheet, forming a series of low hills or terminal moraines (Eisenberg 1978:19).
Circa 18,000 years ago, the last ice sheet reached its southern limit, creating the Harbor Hill moraine that traverses
the length of Long Island. The moraine lies several miles south of the Rezoning Area. North of the moraine, the
complex rising and subsidence of the coastal plain, relieved of its glacial burden, and the rising sea level, caused by
the volume of melting ice, created the coastline of embayed rivers and estuaries, with extensive marsh tracts, which
stabilized approximately 3,000 years ago (Schuberth 1968:195,199).

D. Soils

According to the soil survey for New York City (Figure 3), the Rezoning Area overlaps two soil mapping units.
Soil mapping unit 2, known as “Pavement & buildings, till substratum, 0 to 5 percent slopes,” is described as:

Nearly level to gently sloping, highly urbanized areas with more than 80 percent of the surface
covered by impervious pavement and buildings, over glacial till; generally located in urban centers
(USDA 2005:14).

Soil mapping unit 101, known as “Pavement & buildings, wet substratum-Laguardia-Ebbets complex, 0 to 8 percent
slopes,” is described as:

Nearly level to gently sloping urbanized areas filled with a mixture of natural soil materials and
construction debris over swamp, tidal marsh, or water; a mixture of anthropogenic soils which
vary in coarse fragment content, with 50 to 80 percent of the surface covered by impervious
pavement and buildings (USDA 2005:16).

No soil borings have been completed within the Rezoning Area.

(AVA BACKGROUND RESEARCH/HISTORICAL OVERVIEW

A Previously Recorded Archaeological Sites and Surveys

The archaeological site file inventories from the New York State Museum (NYSM) and the NYSOPRHP indicate

that three archaeological sites have been recorded within a one-mile radius of the Rezoning Area. These sites are
summarized in Table 1, below.



Table 1: Archaeological sites within one mile of the Rezoning Area

Site # and Name Distance from Time Period Site Type
Rezoning Area

04701.015660 0.5 mile northwest 1860s Iron works

Continental Iron Works-Site of 'the Monitor'

04701.018779 0.7 mile southeast 1859-1879 Brewery Vaults

Schnaderbeck Brewery Vaults

04701.018883 0.6 mile southwest 1850s-1880s Domestic

101 S. 5™ Street Historical Archaeological Site

There have been a number of archaeological studies completed within a one-mile radius of the Rezoning Area in
Brooklyn. During the 1990s, several urban renewal and redevelopment plans occurred in the East Williamsburg
neighborhood, including the Scholes Street Urban Renewal Housing Site (HPI 1992a), the Maujer Street
Community Development Plan (HPI 1992b), the Williamsburgh Houses Community Center project (Greenhouse
1995), and the 140 Johnson Avenue project (City/Scape 1997).

More recently, archaeological studies undertaken for development and infrastructure projects have included the 90
Havemeyer Street project (Bergoffen 2005), the 11 Broadway project (JMA 2010), the 1 Maspeth Avenue project
(HPI 2013a), the LPC Warehouse Development for Affordable Housing project (HPI 2015), the 33 Ten Eyck Street
project (Bergoffen 2015, 2016), the Canarsie L Line New Substation at 5 Maspeth Avenue (HPI 2016), and the 70
Scholes Street project (HPI 2018).

B. Historic Period Summary

The Rezoning Area falls within the colonial boundaries of the Town of Bushwick, and the nineteenth-century
Village and Town of Williamsburgh and City of Williamsburg. The first purchase of land that would become
Bushwick was in 1638 by the West India Company; the first European settlers came to the area in the 1640s, a
scattered group of Swedes, Norwegians, and Dutch. In 1661, the village center of what would become known as
Bushwick was laid out with 22 house lots, north of the intersection of what is now Bushwick and Metropolitan
Avenues. The Dutch settlement of Het Dorp, or village center, was located approximately three quarters of a mile
southeast of the Rezoning Area (Stiles 1884; Armbruster 1912). During the colonial period, the Rezoning Area was
part of a larger tract of land which, in a 1719 deed to Francis Titus, was noted as a farm including approximately 58
acres of upland and additional marshland surrounding Bushwick Creek (Stiles 1869, Vol. 11:314).

The original Village of Williamsburgh split off from the Town of Bushwick and incorporated in 1827. The Village
was located west of approximately Union Avenue to the East River, and included the Rezoning Area. A map
published in 1833 showed the Williamsburgh proposed new street grid for the first time (Ewen 1833). What is now
Bedford Avenue was called Fourth Street and what is now Driggs Avenue was called Fifth Street. At the time of the
survey, the Rezoning Area was at the edge of land attributed to William Vail, who had purchased the approximately
25-acre tract in 1820 after winning a court case against former owner James Provost and others (Liber 12:599).
Adjoining parts of the block, shown as marshland, were attributed to John Morell.

Following the creation of the Williamsburgh street grid, which divided the former farmland into new blocks and
lots, there was considerable land speculation during the 1830s and 1840s. Samuel J. Hunt, a wealthy businessman
from Manhattan and the husband of William Vail’s daughter Elizabeth, provided mortgage funds to purchase a
number of lots in different parts of Williamsburgh beginning in 1839, including lots in the Rezoning Area (Liber
80:492, 500). In 1843, however, the land speculators to whom Hunt had provided funds declared bankruptcy and
the land reverted back to Hunt (Liber 107:407). At that time the extent of his holdings in Williamsburgh was noted
as totaling 40 acres and containing approximately 500 city lots, each measuring 25 feet wide and 100 feet deep.

In 1840, the Village of Williamsburgh became the Town of Williamsburgh, separating from Bushwick. Several
historic maps from the 1840s illustrated the new street grid in Williamsburgh, although none showed specific
development locations (U.S.C.S. 1845; Vieth 1845; Colton 1849, Figure 4; Sidney 1849). The first historic map that
depicted specific buildings in Williamsburgh, including the Rezoning Area, was the 1850 Dripps map (Figure 5).

On that map, development was shown in the middle of the Bedford Avenue frontage, corresponding to current Lots



5, 6, and 7 within the Archaeological APE, now known as 133, 135, and 137 Bedford Avenue. Several structures
associated with a varnish factory were shown on the block adjacent to the Rezoning Area, with a frontage on North
9" Street.

During the nineteenth century, the Archaeological APE lots were identified using different numbering schemes, by
lot numbers, ward numbers, and three sets of addresses. Table 2, below, details the varied ways each lot was
identified over time in each primary source. Of note, addresses in city directories, particularly during the 1850s and
1860s, were not always consistent for each lot from year to year.

Table 2: Archaeological APE Lot, Ward, and Address Numbers

Modern | Historic lot Ward number | 1850s to early Mid-1870s to 1886+ address
lot Old/New (tax 1870s address 1886 address (directories)
assessments) (directories) (directories)
2 2 26/2 302 or 304 4" 354 143 Bedford
3 3 25/3 304 or 306 4™ 356 141 Bedford
4 4 24/4 306 or 308 4™ 358 139 Bedford
5 5 23/5 308 or 310 4™ 360 137 Bedford
6 6 22/6 310 or 312 4™ 362 135 Bedford
7 7 21/7 314 4" 364 133 Bedford
10 11 and rear portions of | 17-20/8-11 314 4T 364, 366, 368, 127-131 Bedford
7,8,9,and 10 370 Fourth St.,
162 N. Tenth
St.

Using the identifications in the above table, each historic lot was researched to determine the year that it was
developed with a residential structure, established the owners, and when possible, the occupants of the house during
the second half of the nineteenth century. The information for each historic lot is presented in Appendix D.
Appendix E provides tax photographs from 1939-1941 of the original nineteenth-century houses on the
Archaeological APE historic lots.

Based on city directory listings for Williamsburgh in 1848 and 1850, it appears that the buildings on Lots 5, 6, and 7
were constructed between the publications of these two registers. Although there were several residents listed in the
1848 city directory as living on Fourth Street near the corner of North 9™ Street, it is uncertain if any of these
corresponded to the buildings in the Archaeological APE. In the 1850 city directory, however, residents were listed
for 312 and 314 Fourth Street, numbers formerly used for Lots 6 and 7. A third listing, for 318 Fourth Street, may
also have corresponded to the Archaeological APE. The three residences on Lots 5, 6, and 7 likely were constructed
concurrently, probably between 1848 and 1849, based on their similarities in size and design, as shown on historic
photographs in Appendix E. All three lots were still owned by Samuel J. Hunt during this period, and it is likely that
he had the houses constructed as rental properties, as he continued to live elsewhere. Residents listed in the city
directories were men with working class professions, often in the building or shipbuilding trades. A review of the
1850 federal census confirmed that the men headed households including their wives and children. Some were born
in the United States while others were recent immigrants from European countries including England and Germany.
The residences generally had two families listed for each building (see Appendix D).

In 1852, the Town of Williamsburgh became the City of Williamsburg (with a new spelling), and in 1855 the City of
Williamsburg was annexed to the City of Brooklyn, becoming with Bushwick, its Eastern District. The 1854
Williamsburgh (sic) city directory again had listings for household heads at 312 and 314 Fourth Street, and the 1855
Brooklyn city directory had listings for 310, 312, and 314 Fourth Street. The new residents for 310 Fourth Street
matched residents formerly listed at 119 North 9™ Street in the 1850 city directory, which was near the corner of
Fourth Street.

The 1854 Williamsburgh (sic) city directory also, for the first time, listed the locations of the public cisterns
throughout the city, where local residents could obtain drinking water. The nearest public cistern to the Rezoning
Area was at the corner of Fourth Street and North 8" Street, one block to the southwest. As Armbruster (1942)
explained:



The water supply was, until the Ridgewood water was introduced [starting in 1859], largely
derived from the wooden pumps, set commonly at street corners at intervals of about four blocks.

About 1850 the drinking water was provided by the pumps. On the opposite side of the street was
a large cistern, kept full from these pumps by the city authorities to fight fires. Every family had
its cedar pail and cocoanut dipper for its drinking water from the pumps and cistern water for
household purposes (Armbruster 1942:31).

Thus, the residences constructed in the late 1840s on Lots 5, 6, and 7 would have relied on the nearby public pump,
as well as individual cisterns for each house. Cisterns usually were located immediately off the backs of the houses,
and obtained rainwater via downspouts from the roof of the buildings. After the neighborhood was supplied with
piped city water under the streets, generally after 1859, houses would have been able to connect to the municipal
source, negating the need for new cisterns on properties.

Also in 1859, the City of Brooklyn began work on providing sewers under local streets, which houses could then
hook into. The Brooklyn Office of the Sewer Commissioners established sewer districts for the City of Brooklyn in
1859, and construction began in the following years. By 1863, sewer assessments had been completed for
construction of sewers under the Fourth Street and North 9™ Street sides of the Rezoning Area (Brooklyn Daily
Eagle 4/11/1863).

The houses on Lots 2, 3, and 4 (now respectively 143, 141 and 139 Bedford Avenue) appear to have been
constructed in the early 1860s. In 1861, Samuel J. Hunt sold these lots to Isaac Ackerly and James Clark (Liber
549:402). The new owners, a carpenter and a mason, likely were the builders of these three very similar residences,
each of which is two stories with a basement. The tax photographs in Appendix E illustrate the taller style windows
on the houses for Lots 3 and 4, which were popular during the early 1860s. The front of the house on Lot 2 appears
to have been retrofitted at a later date, probably in about 1905 when it was altered (DOB records), but likely had a
similar design when it was first built. These three new houses probably were hooked up to the new municipal sewer
under Fourth Street when they were constructed, or very shortly thereafter. The first city directory entries for two of
these houses, at 304 and 306 Fourth Street, were in 1863 and the first entry for 302 was in 1865.

During the 1860s, owner Samuel J. Hunt sold the remaining lots on Bedford Avenue to others. In 1863 he sold Lot
6 to Michael McGrother (Liber 592:370), in 1864 Lot 5 to John Conboy (Liber 6--:140), in 1865 Lot 7 to Owen
Duffy (Liber 653:330), and in 1868 Lot 8 to Susan Duffy and Lots 9 and 10 to Owen Duffy (Liber 816:504; Liber
808:394). The 1865 New York state census showed that Lots 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 were all occupied with residents,
most with two or three families per house. All of the new owners and their families occupied one of units in these
houses, with the other spaces occupied by renters. The household heads on Bedford Avenue continued to have
working class occupations, and represented a mixture of those born in America and European immigrants. The 1864
Dripps map (Figure 6) confirms that much of the Bedford Avenue frontage was now covered with buildings. The
lots on the corner of North 10™ Street were still vacant, however.

Tax assessment records are available for the City of Brooklyn beginning in 1868. These records confirmed
information gleaned from maps, city directories, and census records about the houses within the Rezoning Area
during this period. In 1868, Lots 2, 3, and 4 each contained a two-story building with basement, valued at $1200
each. The buildings on Lots 5, 6, and 7, also each with a two-story and basement building, were valued at $800
each, likely attesting to their older age and smaller size. There was a one and a half-story building on Lot 8 by this
year, valued at $500. Lots 9 and 10 were vacant. The 1869 Dripps map (Figure 7) showed generalized conditions
from this period, although erroneously showed Lots 9 and 10 as containing buildings, when tax records indicated
they were vacant.

By 1874, tax records showed that the small building on Lot 8 had been demolished. Two four-story buildings had
been constructed on Lots 8 and 9 in its place. A Higginson map (the base map was published in 1868 and it was
updated by pasting over new information in subsequent years) showed the two four-story buildings on Lots 8 and 9,
along with the older buildings on Lots 2-7 (Figure 8). The house on Lot 7 was shown to have a one-story extension
off the rear, which was noted in the tax records by 1875.



The Higginson map also showed the extent of the adjacent varnish factory on the interior of the block. This factory
had existed at least since 1850, when it was depicted and labeled on the Dripps map (Figure 5). The factory had a
number of different owners and operators over the ensuing decades. In 1855, a newspaper article indicated a fire
had occurred at the factory when a kettle of varnish boiled over, and caused substantial damage. At that time the
factory was owned by John Martin (Brooklyn Daily Eagle 9/10/1855). The Higginson map labeled the complex the
De Voes Varnish Factory. Given the presence of paste-overs on the map, it appears the facility went through several
changes in configuration after 1868. Starting in 1868, however, and continuing through 1898, tax assessment
records indicated that the complex was attributed to William D. Chase. His name also was associated with the
factory on the 1884 Sanborn map (Figure 9). Part of the varnish factory complex was located on the southeastern
side of modern Lot 10, which at the time was the 20-foot wide historic Lot 11, extending 100 feet deep from the
North 10™ Street frontage.

The buildings fronting Bedford Avenue within the Archaeological APE continued to be used as residences through
the end of the nineteenth century. There was no change to the footprints of the buildings on the lots during this
period. Tax assessments noted some turnover of owners across the properties, and city directory and census records
indicated a continued pattern of buildings usually occupied by the owner and family in one unit, and families of
renters in the remaining units. The population remained a working class mixture of Americans and immigrants.
Given the industrial nature of the neighborhood during the nineteenth century, with various factories and other
industries in the area, many of the local residents worked in these occupations. Appendix D details the occupation
data for the Archacological APE lots. In the early 1880s, Fourth Street was renamed Bedford Avenue, although the
change from one name to the other took some time to be adopted in city directories and tax records. As noted in
Table 2, there were three sets of street numbers during the second half of the nineteenth century as well.

During the twentieth century, the extent of the residential buildings on the Archaeological APE lots remained
unchanged. The 1905 Sanborn map (Figure 10) indicated a similar configuration acros